5

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

OCT 16 2015

SC Court of Appeals

The Honorable DeAndrea Gist Benjamin, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2001-CP-40-4203R
Appellate Case No. 2014-001826

EDWIN M. SMITH, JR. APPELLANT,

vs.

DAVID FEDOR,RESPONDENT.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

William M. Hogan (S.C. Bar No. 65272)
James R. Gilreath (S.C. Bar No. 02133)
THE GILREATH LAW FIRM, P.A.
110 Lavinia Avenue (zip 29601)
P.O. Box 2147
Greenville, South Carolina 29602
Telephone: (864) 242-4727
ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

INTRODUCTION

This case presents the issue of whether the Lower Court, when ruling on a Rule 60(b)(5), SCRCP, motion to discharge a confession of judgment, should consider documents beyond the confession of judgment in determining if the debtor has met his financial obligations to his creditor. More specifically, this case involves the question of whether the Lower Court should have reviewed a written settlement agreement signed by the parties and their counsel during a mediation, where the settlement agreement specified: (1) the debtor-defendant's (Respondent's) payment obligations to the plaintiff (Appellant), and (2) the terms of a confession of judgment to secure the defendant's installment payments to the plaintiff.

In brief, the appellant Edwin M. Smith, Jr. ("Plaintiff") sued respondent David A. Fedor ("Defendant") for fraud and other related causes of action. The parties entered into a written confidential settlement agreement ("Confidential Settlement Agreement") drafted by the mediator David W. Harwell at the conclusion of their mediation on September 17, 2002. The Confidential Settlement Agreement required Defendant to pay Plaintiff \$400,000, payable by an initial payment of \$50,000, followed by ten (10) annual installment payments of \$35,000 beginning the following year on September 1, 2003. To secure the \$350,000 payable in annual installments, the Confidential Settlement Agreement required Defendant to execute a confession of judgment for the \$350,000 balance owed. After the agreed-upon date for the initial \$50,000 payment, Defendant executed on September 26, 2002 the \$350,000 confession of judgment ("Confession of Judgment") which expressly stated it arose pursuant to the parties' Confidential Settlement Agreement.

Beginning the year following the mediated Confidential Settlement Agreement and for the subsequent nine years, Defendant paid \$335,000 of installment payments. After paying an overall total of \$385,000 (\$50,000 down payment plus \$335,000 of installment payments) towards the \$400,000 obligation, Defendant quit paying his installment payments. Plaintiff then filed the Confession of Judgment for the remaining debt of \$15,000 (\$400,000 obligation less \$50,000 initial payment less \$335,000 of installment payments). Defendant claimed since he paid \$385,000 and the Confession of Judgment was for \$350,000, he did not have to make any more payments and was entitled to be relieved from the Confession of Judgment. Defendant argued that the Lower Court could look at extrinsic evidence of the payments he made but was not entitled to review the Confidential Settlement Agreement to determine his payment obligations. Defendant claimed the Lower Court could look only at the Confession of Judgment to determine his payment obligations. The Lower Court agreed, and this appeal followed.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the trial judge commit reversible error in refusing to consider the terms of the Confidential Settlement Agreement executed by the parties when determining whether Defendant had satisfied his Confession of Judgment arising out of the Confidential Settlement Agreement?
2. Should the Lower Court have considered the merits of Plaintiff's Motion for Reconsideration which was timely mailed to the Clerk of Court and to Defendant's counsel even though an additional copy was not mailed directly to the presiding judge?

3. Is the parties' Confidential Settlement Agreement sufficiently clear, explicit and unambiguous such that this Court should remand this case to the Lower Court with instructions to deny Defendant's Rule 60(b) motion?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The history of the proceedings in the Lower Court is as follows:

1. In 2001 Plaintiff filed a lawsuit alleging various fraud related causes of action, legal malpractice and breach of contract against Defendant arising out of the parties' business relationship and Defendant's professional legal services. (Tr. p. 6:14-17) (R. p. 23, lines 14-17).
2. On September 17, 2002 the parties conducted mediation before former Supreme Court Chief Justice David Harwell. Pursuant to the mediation, the parties entered into a written Confidential Settlement Agreement that date. Both parties and their attorneys signed the Confidential Settlement Agreement written by the mediator. (Confidential Settlement Agreement; Tr. p. 16:9-21) (R. pp. 50-53; R. p. 33, lines 9-21).
3. Under the terms of the Confidential Settlement Agreement Defendant agreed in paragraph 1 to pay Plaintiff "the total sum of \$400,000.00 in complete settlement of all claims..." (Confidential Settlement Agreement pp. 1-2) (R. pp. 50-51).
4. Under paragraph *1.a* of the Confidential Settlement Agreement, the \$400,000 settlement was to be paid by an initial \$50,000 payment to be delivered within three (3) days of the Confidential Settlement Agreement. (Id.)
5. Under paragraph *1.b* of the Confidential Settlement Agreement, the balance of

\$350,000.00 was to be paid in annual installments of at least \$35,000.00 on September 1 of each year beginning September 1, 2003 until paid in full. (Id. at 2-3) (R. pp. 51-52).

6. Under paragraph 3 of the Confidential Settlement Agreement, Defendant agreed to give Plaintiff an executed Confession of Judgment for \$350,000.00 as security for the remaining \$350,000 balance to be paid in installments. (Id. at 3) (R. p. 52).
7. The Confidential Settlement Agreement stated in paragraph 3 the amount of the Confession of Judgment “shall be net of all payments made to date.” Paragraph 3 further stated that the Confession of Judgment would be held by Plaintiff’s attorney in escrow until Defendant defaulted on any payments. (Id.) (R. p. 52).
8. The Confidential Settlement Agreement in paragraph 5 required Plaintiff to write a letter to the South Carolina Bar Grievance Committee providing notice that the parties’ case had been resolved to the mutual satisfaction of all parties. (Id. at 4) R. p. 53).
9. Nine days after the mediation Defendant executed a Confession of Judgment dated September 26, 2002. The Confession of Judgment acknowledged that Defendant was indebted to Plaintiff as of September 26, 2002 in the principal amount of \$350,000. The Confession of Judgment further recited that it was executed in consideration for Plaintiff agreeing to release all claims against Defendant and to dismiss with prejudice the subject lawsuit captioned Smith v. Fedor, Docket No. 2001-CP-40-4. (Confession of Judgment at ¶¶ 3-4) (R. p. 11).
10. The Confession of Judgment stated: “The indebtedness owed by Defendant to Plaintiff arose pursuant to a confidential Settlement Agreement between

Defendant and Plaintiff dated September 17, 2002 in which the lawsuit referenced above was settled.” (Id. at ¶ 5) (R. p. 12).

11. The Confession of Judgment authorized entry of a judgment against Defendant “in the principal amount of \$350,000.00, less any payment received by Plaintiff from Defendant through the date of filing hereof.” (Id. at ¶ 7) (R. p. 12).
12. The Confession of Judgment provided that it would not be filed “unless and until there has been a default by Defendant on his payment obligations as set forth in the Confidential Settlement Agreement.” (Id. at ¶ 9) (R. p. 12).
13. Defendant made an initial payment of \$50,000 as part of the Confidential Settlement Agreement. (Gilreath Aff. at ¶12) (R. p. 58).
14. From September 1, 2003 through September 1, 2011 Defendant made nine annual installment payments of \$35,000 each for a total of \$315,000 of installment payments, leaving a balance due of \$35,000. (Id. at ¶ 4) (R. p. 58).
15. On September 1, 2012 Defendant failed to make an installment payment. (Id. at ¶¶ 4-5) (R. p. 58).
16. Shortly after November 20, 2012 Defendant made a payment of \$20,000. (Id. at ¶ 7) (R. p. 58).
17. Defendant made total payments to Plaintiff or his attorney of \$385,000 in this case. (Resp’t Aff.) (R. p. 62).
18. On February 27, 2013 Plaintiff’s 2002 trial attorney James R. Gilreath filed the Confession of Judgment, along with a Partial Satisfaction of Judgment, for default in the unpaid balance of \$15,000. (Gilreath Aff. at ¶10) (R. p. 58).
19. On or about March 26, 2013 Defendant filed a motion pursuant to Rule 60(b)(5),

- SCRCP, for relief from the Confession of Judgment claiming the debt recited in the Confession of Judgment had been satisfied. (Def.'s 60(b) Mot.) (R. pp. 15-17).
20. Prior to the date of the hearing on Defendant's motion, Plaintiff's counsel submitted to the trial judge (1) a Memorandum in Opposition to Defendant's Motion to Vacate Judgment which included as exhibits the Confidential Settlement Agreement and the Confession of Judgment, and (2) an affidavit of James R. Gilreath which included the same exhibits as Plaintiff's Memorandum in Opposition. (Mem. Opp'n Def.'s Mot. Vacate J.) (R. p. 46-59).
 21. The Lower Court, with the Honorable DeAndrea Gist Benjamin presiding, held a hearing on Defendant's Rule 60(b)(5) motion on August 26, 2013. The Lower Court heard oral arguments from counsel for both parties. Counsel for Defendant objected to any inquiry into the Confidential Settlement Agreement on the basis that it was not in the record, was full of scratch-overs and strike-throughs and was not clear upon its face. (Tr. p. 9:20-24) (R. p. 26, lines 20-24).
 22. The Lower Court reviewed the Confession of Judgment but declined to review the Confidential Settlement Agreement at the hearing. (Id. at p. 20:3-6) (R. p. 37, lines 3-6).
 23. The Lower Court granted Defendant's Rule 60(b)(5) motion by order filed October 31, 2013 ("Order"). The Order stated: "...As a result, the Court will not consider the terms of the confidential settlement agreement executed by the parties." (Order p.3:18-19, Oct. 31, 2013) (R. p. 5, lines 18-19).
 24. On November 8, 2013, Plaintiff's attorney timely mailed Plaintiff's Motion for Reconsideration to the Clerk of Court for filing with a duplicate copy to

Defendant's counsel. (R. pp. 74-88 and 96). A separate copy of the Motion for Reconsideration was e-mailed to the trial judge's office on June 4, 2014. (Ex. A to (Second) Mot. Recons. filed Aug. 4, 2014) (R. p. 96).

25. By a form 4 Order dated July 22, 2014, the Lower Court denied Plaintiff's first Motion for Reconsideration stating: "Motion for Reconsideration has been denied because the Court did not receive a copy of the motion within ten days of the motion being filed." (Order, July 22, 2014) (R. p. 8).
26. Plaintiff, following receipt on July 28, 2014 of the form 4 Order mailed by the Clerk of Court on July 24, 2014, timely served his Notice of Appeal on August 21, 2014. (See Aug. 21, 2014 Notice of Appeal¹ and Order, July 22, 2014) (R. pp. 98-99 and 107-109).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

"A party seeking to set aside a judgment pursuant to Rule 60(b) has the burden of presenting evidence entitling him to the requested relief." Perry v. Heirs at Law of Gadsden, 357 S.C. 42, 46, 590 S.E.2d 502, 504 (Ct. App. 2003). "...[M]otions for relief under Rule 60(b) are addressed to the discretion of the court and appellate review is limited to determining whether the trial court abused its discretion." Saro Inv. v. Ocean Holiday P'ship, 314 S.C. 116, 124, 441 S.E.2d 835, 840 (Ct. App. 1994): "An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's decision is based upon an error of law or upon

¹ On August 4, 2014 Plaintiff's counsel filed and served on defense counsel and the trial judge a second Motion for Reconsideration for Lower Court review of the July 22, 2014 order. As of August 21, 2014, no ruling had been made on the second Motion for Reconsideration. Under the filing requirements of Elam v S.C. Dept. of Transp., 361 S.C. 9, 602 S.E.2d 772 (2004) and Collins Music Co. v. IGT, 353 S.C. 559, 579 S.E.2d 524 (Ct. App. 2002) which held that a second post-trial motion did not toll the deadline for filing a notice of appeal, Plaintiff proceeded with this appeal within the appeal deadline related to his first Motion for Reconsideration.

factual findings that are without evidentiary support.” Fields v. J. Haynes Waters Builders, Inc., 376 S.C. 545, 555, 658 S.E.2d 80, 85-86 (2008); see also Saro Inv. v. Ocean Holiday P’ship, *supra* (holding trial judge abused its discretion and committed reversible error by not considering Rule 60(b) motion with the view of determining if plaintiff’s judgment had prospective application).

“The admission or exclusion of evidence is a matter within the sound discretion of the trial court and absent clear abuse, will not be disturbed on appeal.” Gamble v. Int’l Paper Realty Corp. of S.C., 323 S.C. 367, 373, 474 S.E.2d 438, 441 (1996). “...[T]o warrant reversal based on the admission or exclusion of evidence, the appealing party must show both the error of the ruling and prejudice.” Fields v. J. Haynes Waters Builders, Inc., 376 S.C. at 557, 658 S.E.2d at 86 . Prejudice is a reasonable probability that the fact-finder's determination was influenced by the challenged evidence or the lack thereof. Id.; see also Hill v. S. Carolina Dep't of Health & Env'tl. Control, 389 S.C. 1, 14, 698 S.E.2d 612, 619 (2010).

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL JUDGE COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR IN REFUSING TO CONSIDER THE CONFIDENTIAL SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT EXECUTED BY THE PARTIES WHEN DETERMINING WHETHER DEFENDANT HAD SATISFIED HIS CONFESSION OF JUDGMENT ARISING OUT OF THE CONFIDENTIAL SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT.

The issues in this matter date back to September 17, 2002 when the parties participated in a mediation conducted by David W. Harwell as mediator. That day the parties entered into a “Confidential Settlement Agreement” personally signed by both parties and their attorneys. (Confidential Settlement Agreement p. 4) (R. p. 53). The

Confidential Settlement Agreement was not filed with the Court in 2002. (Tr. p. 10:10-23) (R. p. 27, lines 10-23). On September 26, 2002 Defendant executed a Confession of Judgment for \$350,000 in consideration for Plaintiff's agreement to release all claims against him and to dismiss the underlying suit with prejudice. (Confession of Judgment, ¶4) (R. p. 11). According to the Confession of Judgment, the indebtedness it secured "arose pursuant to a confidential Settlement Agreement between Defendant and Plaintiff dated September 17, 2002..." (Id. at ¶5) (R. p. 12) (emphasis added). In addition the Confession of Judgment stated Plaintiff would not file the confession "until there [was] a default by Defendant on his payment obligations as set forth in the Confidential Settlement Agreement." (Id. at ¶¶ 9 and 10) (R. p. 12) (emphasis added).

Ten years after the dismissal of the case, Plaintiff on February 27, 2013 filed the Confession of Judgment and a Partial Satisfaction of Judgment with the Richland County Clerk of Court. The Partial Satisfaction stated that Defendant had paid \$335,000 towards the balance owed under the Confession of Judgment, leaving an unpaid balance of \$15,000. (Gilreath Aff. ¶10) (R. p. 58). Following the entry of the Confession of Judgment, Defendant filed a motion to be relieved from the judgment pursuant to Rule 60(b)(5), SCRPC. (R. p. 15-17).

At the August 26, 2013 hearing before the Lower Court, counsel for Defendant asked the Court to consider only the terms on the face of the Confession of Judgment which provides in part that "[t]he Defendant hereby authorizes the entry of an Order and judgment against Defendant, and in favor of Plaintiff, in the principal amount of \$350,000, less any payments received by Plaintiff from Defendant through the date of filing hereof." (Confession of Judgment, ¶7) (R. p. 12). Defendant's counsel asked the

Lower Court to ignore the terms of the Confidential Settlement Agreement specifically referenced in the Confession of Judgment. (Tr. pp. 9:13 – 10:3 and 15:7-16) (R. p. 26, line 13—p. 27, line 3 and p. 32, lines 7-16).

Both parties agreed during the hearing that Defendant had paid sums to Plaintiff *in excess of* the \$350,000 amount set forth in the Confession of Judgment. (e.g. Tr. pp. 4:13-15 and 21:6-9) (R. p. 21, lines 13-15 and p. 38, lines 6-9). However, Plaintiff's counsel pointed out to the Court that Defendant had more than one payment obligation to Plaintiff under the Confidential Settlement Agreement and that not all Defendant's payments were towards the obligation secured by the Confession of Judgment. (Tr. pp. 8:6-8 and 21:1-9) (R. p. 25, lines 6-8 and p. 38, lines 1-9). It was therefore necessary to review the referenced Confidential Settlement Agreement to determine if Defendant had met his payment obligations secured by the Confession of Judgment.

In the subject Order, the Lower Court declined to consider the terms of the Confidential Settlement Agreement. (Order p.3:18-19, Oct. 31, 2013) (R. p. 5, lines 18-19). The Order stated that the 2002 version of Rule 43(k), SCRCPP, pertaining to the enforceability of settlement agreements, applied to this case and that the 2002 rule prohibited enforcement of the Confidential Settlement Agreement since the agreement was not entered in the court record. (*Id.* pp. 2-3) (R. pp. 4-5). As a result, the Lower Court held that the payments in excess of \$350,000 satisfied the Confession of Judgment and then granted Defendant's Motion for Relief from the Confession of Judgment. (R. p. 6).

A. The current version of Rule 43(k) is applied retrospectively, making the Confidential Settlement Agreement enforceable.

Rule 43(k), SCRCPP regarding settlement agreements of counsel currently states:

No agreement between counsel affecting the proceedings in an action shall be binding unless reduced to the form of a consent order or written stipulation signed by counsel and entered in the record, or unless made in open court and noted upon the record, or reduced to writing and signed by the parties and their counsel.

Rule 43(k), SCRCP (emphasis added).

The Confidential Settlement Agreement was obviously reduced to writing, was signed by the parties and also by their counsel. The Confidential Settlement Agreement met all three requirements of the current Rule 43(k) underlined above and is thus enforceable under current Rule 43(k).

The Lower Court however held that Rule 43(k), SCRCP as amended in 2009 and currently in effect did not apply to the matter before the Lower Court on August 26, 2013. The Court applied to this case the 2002 version of Rule 43(k) as interpreted by the Supreme Court in 2006 in Buckley v. Shealy, 370 S.C. 317, 322, 635 S.E.2d 76, 78 (2006). As a result, the Court declined to consider the terms of the Confidential Settlement Agreement the parties executed on September 17, 2002. Under our state's appellate case law, the present version of Rule 43(k) is to be applied to cases currently pending before the trial court, including this matter.

As a rule of procedure, the amended Rule 43(k), SCRCP is to be employed in all actions pending before the court at the time of amendment and in all actions heard by the court thereafter. This precise issue was addressed by this Court in Graham v. Dorchester County School District, 339 S.C. 121, 528 S.E.2d 80 (Ct. App. 2000). The Court upheld the trial judge's ruling that an amendment to the Rules of Civil Procedure, such as Rule 40(j) SCRCP at issue in that case, should be given retroactive application to cases pending at the time of its enactment.

In explaining that amendments to the Rules of Civil Procedure apply retroactively, this Court stated:

In cases dealing with statutory law changes, courts have discussed the general rules of prospective and retroactive application. By analogy, those same principles can be applied to determine whether an amended procedural rule should have prospective or retroactive effect...

Our Supreme Court has held that statutes are presumed to be entitled to prospective construction unless there is an express provision or a clear legislative intent to the contrary. Hercules Inc. v. South Carolina Tax Comm'n, 274 S.C. 137, 262 S.E.2d 45 (1980) (holding a statute which has the effect of tolling a statute of limitations affects the remedy and not the right and is therefore subject to retroactive application). A principal exception is remedial or procedural statutes are generally held to operate retrospectively. Id.; see Jenkins v. Meares, 302 S.C. 142, 146, 394 S.E.2d 317, 319 (1990) (“Our decisions recognize a presumption that statutory enactments are to be given prospective rather than retroactive effect. An exception to this presumption arises when the enactment is remedial or procedural in nature, such as a statute of limitations.”).

The South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure provide that the rules, which initially took effect on July 1, 1985, would “govern all proceedings in civil actions brought after they take effect.” Rule 86(a), SCRCP. Moreover, the rules also govern “all further proceedings in actions then pending” unless to do so “would not be feasible or would work injustice.” Id.; see McGann v. Mungo, 287 S.C. 561, 340 S.E.2d 154 (Ct. App.1986) (holding the new rules of civil procedure apply to all further proceedings in pending actions); James F. Flanagan, *South Carolina Civil Procedure* 583 (2d ed. 1996) (“Rule 86(a) made these rules applicable to cases then pending at the time of [sic] rules were adopted. A similar result follows when new civil rules are promulgated.”).

Graham v. Dorchester Cnty. Sch. Dist., 339 S.C. 121, 124, 528 S.E.2d 80, 81-82 (Ct. App. 2000)² (emphasis added).

Therefore under Graham, Rule 43(k) is to be applied retroactively to all cases pending before the court “unless to do so ‘would not be feasible or would work

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