THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
DeAndrea Gist Benjamin, Circuit Court Judge

---

RECEIVED  
OCT 26 2015  
SC Court of Appeals

Case No. 2001-CP-40-4203  
Appellate Case No. 2014-001826

---

Edwin M. Smith, Jr.,

Appellant,

v.

David Fedor,

Respondent

---

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

Katherine Carruth Goode  
229 South Congress Street  
Post Office Box 1175  
Winnsboro, South Carolina 29180  
Telephone: 803-799-4440  
South Carolina Bar No. 8951

Attorney for Respondent

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

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

## ARGUMENT

### I. THE “TWO ISSUE RULE” REQUIRES AFFIRMANCE OF THE LOWER COURT’S ORDER.

The issue before the lower court, based on the Rule 60(b)(5) motion filed by respondent, was the question whether respondent was entitled to relief from a confession of judgment because the judgment had been satisfied. This case was not an action to enforce a settlement agreement. No pleading filed by appellant placed the purported settlement agreement before the court. When appellant sought to have the court construe and enforce a purported confidential settlement agreement, respondent objected. The court considered two questions: whether it could consider and enforce the purported agreement (R. pp. 4-5, Discussion, Part I) and whether the confession of judgment had been satisfied (R. pp. 5-6, Discussion, Part II).

On appeal, the issues framed and argued by appellant all address the finding of the court with respect to the purported agreement. Appellant has not stated as an issue on appeal any challenge to the ruling of the court in Part II of the order's discussion – the determination that the confession of judgment had been satisfied. This unappealed ruling is the law of the case, and the court's order must be affirmed. *See Atlantic Coast Builders*, 398 S.C. at 328, 730 S.E.2d at 284; *Jones*, 387 S.C. at 346, 692 S.E.2d at 903-04; *Mason*, 412 S.C. at 48, 770 S.E.2d at 415.

II. THE ARGUMENTS AND AUTHORITIES CITED IN SUPPORT OF APPELLANT'S FIRST AND THIRD ISSUES AND ARGUMENTS, PRESENTED FOR THE FIRST TIME IN THE MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION OR ON APPEAL, ARE NOT PRESERVED FOR APPELLATE REVIEW.

The arguments in appellant's brief with respect to appellant's first issue on appeal were either first raised in the motion for reconsideration or in appellant's opening brief. The brief's Argument I, A, is essentially the argument made in the motion for reconsideration as Argument I. *See* Final Brief of Appellant, pp. 10-14; R. pp. 77-80. The brief's Argument I, B, parts 1, 2, 3, and 4, were first made in the motion for reconsideration as Argument II, parts A, B, C, and D. *See* Final Brief of Appellant, pp. 14-20; R. pp. 80-85. A portion of the brief's Argument I, B, 2, is entirely new. *See* Final Brief of Appellant, p. 17. All but the first paragraph of the brief's Argument I, B, 4, is entirely new, raising an issue of ambiguity and new argument and authorities not raised in the court below. *See* Final Brief of Appellant, pp. 20-23. The logical consistency argument of the brief's Argument I, C, is made for the first time on appeal. *See* Final Brief of Appellant, pp. 23-24. The third argument and the authorities cited therein are also raised for the first time on appeal. *See* Final Brief of Appellant, pp. 27-28. These

arguments are not preserved for appellate review, because they were either not made or not timely made in the court below.

Appellant's arguments first made in his motion for reconsideration pursuant to Rule 59(e) are not preserved for appellate review. *See Stevens & Wilkinson*, 409 S.C. at 567, 762 S.E.2d at 695; *Smallwood*, 392 S.C. at 583, 709 S.E.2d at 547-48; *McChurg*, 380 S.C. at 579, 671 S.E.2d at 96. Appellant's new arguments, made for the first time in his appellate brief, are also not preserved. *See Stevens & Wilkinson*, 409 S.C. at 567, 762 S.E.2d at 695; *CoastalStates Bank*, 408 S.C. at 518 n.3, 759 S.E.2d at 157 n.3; *Busillo*, 404 S.C. at 607, 745 S.E.2d at 144.

The theory presented in the court below, prior to the motion for reconsideration, was a different theory than that argued in the motion for reconsideration and now presented on appeal with respect to appellant's first issue. In his "Memorandum in Support of Entering Settlement Agreement into Evidence," submitted following the August 26, 2013, appellant presented entirely different theories and arguments for having the court consider the purported confidential settlement agreement than those now asserted on appeal. R. pp. 69-73. After the court ruled against him, he abandoned those arguments and presented new theories, arguments, and authorities in his motion for reconsideration. R. pp. 75-87. The arguments made in the memorandum filed prior to the court's ruling are not raised in this appeal, and the authorities cited in that memorandum are not cited in appellant's brief. Rather, in the motion for reconsideration and on appeal, appellant abandoned those arguments and authorities and presented entirely new theories, arguments, and authorities. This Court should not address the arguments now asserted with respect to appellant's first and third issues, because they are unpreserved.

“Preserving issues for appellate review is a fundamental component of appellate practice.” *Kennedy*, 349 S.C. at 533, 564 S.E.2d at 323, *quoting* Jean H. Toal, Shahin Vafai & Robert Muckenfuss, *Appellate Practice in South Carolina*, at 65 (1999). “Issue preservation rules are designed to give the trial court a fair opportunity to rule on the issues, and thus provide the Court with a platform for meaningful appellate review.” *Stevens & Wilkinson*, 409 S.C. at 567, 762 S.E.2d at 695. In this case, appellant has not complied with the rules of preservation, and this Court should not consider any of the arguments and authorities contained in argument of his first and third issues on appeal.

III. THIS COURT SHOULD NOT CONSIDER FACTUAL RECITALS NOT SUPPORTED BY EVIDENCE AND DOCUMENTS NOT PROPERLY ADMITTED INTO EVIDENCE.

The factual recitals and arguments made by appellant throughout his brief are wholly unsupported by any evidentiary record. No testimony was taken at the hearing of August 26, 2013. The affidavit of attorney James Gilreath was not admitted into evidence. The purported confidential settlement agreement was not admitted into evidence. Appellant did not call any witness to lay a foundation for the admission of the purported agreement.

Respondent’s trial counsel made numerous specific objections to the factual assertions made by opposing counsel and to any consideration of the agreement. R. p. 26, lines 4-6, 20-24; p. 27, lines 19-21; p. 32, lines 13-17; p. 35, lines 8-13. Had *any* evidentiary support been introduced by counsel for appellant, respondent’s trial counsel would have had an opportunity to cross-examine appellant’s witnesses concerning the making of the alleged agreement, the identity of its drafter, the irregularities contained in the document itself, and the events that may have transpired between the making of the

alleged agreement on September 17, 2002, and the execution of the confession of judgment by respondent on September 26, 2002. No evidentiary foundation was laid for admission of the document. It was not authenticated in any way, as required by the South Carolina Rules of Evidence and case law. *See* Rule 901(a), SCRE (authentication requirement); *see also Clark v. Cantrell*, 339 S.C. 369, 386, 529 S.E.2d 528, 536 (2000); *State v. Rich*, 293 S.C. 172, 173-74, 359 S.E.2d 281, 281-82 (1987); *Deep Keel, LLC v. Atlantic Private Equity Group, LLC*, 413 S.C. 58, 64, 773 S.E.2d 607, 610 (Ct. App. 2015). To the extent that the Gilreath affidavit might be argued to authenticate the document, that affidavit also was not offered into evidence, and respondent's trial counsel had no opportunity to object to its admission. Under these circumstances, this Court should not consider either the purported agreement or the affidavit, and it should not consider the factual recitals throughout appellant's brief that are based on those documents.

IV. THE LOWER COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN GRANTING THE MOTION FOR RELIEF FROM THE CONFESSION OF JUDGMENT, WHERE THE UNDISPUTED EVIDENCE ESTABLISHED THAT RESPONDENT HAD PAID APPELLANT A SUM IN EXCESS OF THE AMOUNT CONFESSED.

As noted above, the court's decision to grant relief from judgment on the basis that the judgment has been satisfied is reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard. *See Perry v. Heirs at Law of Gadsden*, 357 S.C. 42, 47, 590 S.E.2d 502, 504 (Ct. App. 2003).

The confession of judgment states, in relevant part:

The Defendant hereby authorizes the entry of an Order and judgment against Defendant, and in favor of Plaintiff, in the principal amount of \$350,000.00, *less any payments received* by Plaintiff from Defendant through the date of filing hereof.

R. p. 12, ¶ 7 (emphasis added). The evidence presented at the hearing August 26, 2013, established that respondent has paid to appellant \$385,000, an amount in excess of the confessed amount of \$350,000. R. p. 62 [Plaintiff's Exhibit 1]. Indeed, appellant concedes respondent has paid \$385,000 to appellant. R. pp. 25, 38. The confession of judgment is clear and unambiguous on its face. The amount of the judgment is plainly stated as \$350,000. That amount has been paid. The judgment is satisfied. The lower court did not abuse its discretion in finding the judgment is satisfied and in granting relief from the confession of judgment. R. p. 6.

In arguments that have been abandoned (Memorandum in Support of Entering Settlement Agreement into Evidence) or that were not timely made and are therefore not preserved (Motion for Reconsideration), *see* R. pp. 69-70, 80-85, appellant argues that the parol evidence rule allows for modification of the clear, plain, and unambiguous language of the confession of judgment. The parol evidence rule is applicable in the area of *contract* construction. It is not a principal applicable to construction of *judgments*. A confession of judgment is not a contract. Rather, it is the legal equivalent of a judgment entered by a court. As the court noted in its order,

“Though no adjudication is in fact required in entering a judgment of confession without action, ... it has all the qualities, incidents, and attributes of other judgments, and cannot be valid unless entered in a court which might have legally pronounced the same judgment in a contested action. Triangle Auto Spring Co. v. Gromlovitz, 270 S.C. 386, 389, 242 S.E.2d 430, 431 (1978) (quoting Ex parte Ware Furniture Co., 49 S.C. 20, 27 S.E. 9 (1897)).

R. pp. 5-6.

The parol evidence rule does not provide an avenue for modification of a court's judgment, and it cannot be invoked to modify the plain language of the confession of

judgment. Indeed, although appellant invoked the parol evidence rule in the court below and in his appellate brief, he specifically acknowledges it *does not apply to a confession of judgment*: “The parol evidence rule is one of substantive contract law . . . . [T]he parol evidence rule *has no application to the unilateral Confession of Judgment.*” See Final Brief of Appellant, p. 15 (emphasis added). By appellant’s own admission, parol evidence simply cannot be considered to modify the terms of the confession of judgment. This Court should affirm the court’s determination that the judgment has been satisfied and that respondent was entitled to relief from the confession of judgment.

V. THE LOWER COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN REFUSING TO CONSIDER OR ENFORCE THE PURPORTED CONFIDENTIAL SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT.

The lower court properly held that it could not consider the purported agreement in determining if the confession of judgment had been satisfied and further properly held the agreement was not binding on the court. The court premised its decision with respect to the purported agreement on its application of Rule 43(k) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, as in effect when the parties entered into the purported agreement in 2002. The court’s analysis of the applicability of Rule 43(k) was correct. Moreover, the court’s decision is also supported by additional sustaining grounds.

1. Rule 43(k), SCRCP.

When the agreement was allegedly reached in 2002, Rule 43(k) provided, in relevant part:

No agreement between counsel affecting the proceedings in an action shall be binding unless reduced to the form of a consent order or written stipulation signed by counsel and entered in the record, or unless made in open court and noted upon the record.

*See* Rule 43(k) (2002). This rule applies to settlement agreements. *Ashfort Corp. v. Palmetto Constr. Group, Inc.*, 318 S.C. 492, 494-95, 458 S.E.2d 533, 534-35 (1995). As the court's order found, the parties acknowledge that the purported confidential settlement agreement was never entered into the record. R. p. 5. Under the language of former Rule 43(k), the purported agreement is not binding on the court. *See Buckley v. Shealy*, 370 S.C. 317, 322, 635 S.E.2d 76, 78 (2006); *Farnsworth v. Davis Heating & Air Conditioning, Inc.*, 367 S.C. 634, 638, 627 S.E.2d 724, 726 (2006).

In an argument first made in the motion for reconsideration, appellant contends a 2009 amendment to Rule 43(k) should be applied retrospectively. The court correctly found this amendment applies prospectively. "In the construction of statutes, there is a presumption that statutory enactments are to be considered prospective rather than retroactive in their operation unless there is a specific provision or clear legislative intent to the contrary." *Hercules Inc. v. South Carolina Tax Comm'n*, 274 S.C. 137, 143, 262 S.E.2d 45, 48 (1980). This presumption of prospective application applies with equal force to new rules of court. *See Graham v. Dorchester Coounty Sch. Dist.*, 339 S.C. 121, 124, 528 S.E.2d 80, 81-82 (Ct. App. 2000). The court correctly found the amendment to Rule 43(k) in 2009 did not apply retroactively to an agreement allegedly entered into in 2002.

Appellant contends *Graham* dictates that Rule 43(k) be applied retroactively to all cases pending before the court "unless to do so 'would not be feasible or would work injustice.'" *See* Final Brief of Appellant, pp. 12-13. This argument, first made in the motion for reconsideration, is not sound, for several reasons. First, *Graham* was addressing a change in a different rule, one with a clearly procedural purpose. It was not

addressing the question whether a settlement agreement is binding on the court. Second, the passage in *Graham* quoted by appellant addressed the applicability of rule changes to actions pending when the change was adopted or brought thereafter. This action was brought in 2001, the purported settlement was reached in 2002, and the action was dismissed in 2002, long before the adoption of the 2009 amendment to Rule 43(k).

Third, and most importantly, retroactive application of the change in Rule 43(k) is not feasible and would work serious injustice, not only in this case but in countless others. Retroactive application of Rule 43(k) would have the effect of reviving litigation long before ended and would upend established results. An agreement in existence prior to the effective date of the rule change in 2009, formerly deemed not binding on the court, would suddenly regain vitality and undo the finality that existed in cases concluded prior to the amendment in 2009. Such a result would be unfeasible and would work injustice in cases long ago resolved and concluded.

An unpublished decision of the Court of Appeals from 2011, while having no precedential effect, is instructive. In *Price v. Investors Title Ins. Co.*, Opinion No. 2011-UP-359 (June 30, 2011), a panel of this Court applied the earlier version of Rule 43(k) to a mediated settlement agreement reached in 2008, prior to the 2009 amendment. The Court noted the 2009 amendment to Rule 43(k) but construed the 2008 agreement under the former version of the rule. Acknowledging the discussions in *Hercules* and *Graham*, cited above, *see Price*, 2011 WL 11735003, at p. 2, n.2, the Court did not apply the amendment retroactively. Instead, the Court construed the 2008 agreement under the version of the rule in effect on the date of the agreement. Similarly, in this case, the

lower court correctly applied the version of Rule 43(k) in effect in 2002 when the purported agreement was made and the case was dismissed.

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